RECEIVED

10-30-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I Case No. 2015AP1420-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES D. HEIDKE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable David L. Borowski Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LEON W. TODD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050407

Office of the State Public Defender Appellate Division 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805 Email: toddl@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Is the five-year mandatory minimum for using a computer to facilitate, but not actually complete, a second-degree sexual assault of a child constitutionally irrational, in violation of equal protection, given that there is no mandatory minimum for second-degree sexual assault of a child?

The circuit court denied Heidke's motion to strike the mandatory minimum as unconstitutional, finding that it had a rational basis. The court later sentenced Heidke to five years of initial confinement followed by two years of extended supervision.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The court should hear oral argument, and the decision should be published. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 809.22-23. This appeal involves a constitutional challenge to a statutory penalty scheme – one that requires the imposition of at least five years of confinement for using a computer to facilitate a second-degree sexual assault of a child, but does not require any mandatory minimum for actually completing a seconddegree child sexual assault. In essence, this penalty scheme treats an attempt to commit a crime (albeit a specific type of attempt) more harshly than the actual completed crime.

Legislative classifications are generally owed deference; however, irrational classifications deny citizens equal protection under the law and are unconstitutional. *See State v. Asfoor*, 75 Wis. 2d 411, 440, 249 N.W.2d 529 (1977). Whether this penalty scheme is irrational – indeed,

whether there could ever be a rational basis for treating an attempt more harshly than the actual completed crime – is an issue of substantial public interest, as well as an issue of first impression. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1., 5. It is also an issue that is likely to recur in the future. Circuit courts are thus in need of guidance on this issue in the form of a published opinion. Moreover, giving the constitutional significance of the issue presented, this court may benefit from the opportunity to hear oral argument and ask questions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 28, 2013, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Heidke with using a computer to facilitate a second-degree sexual assault of a child, contrary to Section 948.075 of the Wisconsin Statutes. (2:1). A violation of Section 948.075 is a Class C felony, and requires a court to impose a bifurcated sentence with a term of initial confinement of at least five years. Wis. Stat. § § 948.075(1r), 939.617(1).

According to the complaint, on February 20, 2013, Heidke posted a Craigslist ad seeking intimate relations with a younger person. (2:2). An undercover detective, purporting to be a fifteen-year-old child, responded to the ad by email. (2:2). At first, Heidke replied to the detective that he was "too young." (2:2). However, over the next several days, Heidke and the detective exchanged a number of additional electronic communications and eventually agreed to meet in person. (2:2-10). On February 23, 2013, Heidke drove to a location to meet with the detective and was arrested. (2:10). At all relevant times, Heidke was led to believe that the detective was a fifteen-year-old child. (2:10).

On May 9, 2013, Heidke filed a motion with the circuit court to strike the five-year mandatory minimum as unconstitutional. (10).He pointed out that a person convicted of using a computer to facilitate a second-degree sexual assault of a child must spend at least five years in prison, but a person convicted of actually completing a second-degree child sexual assault is not subject to any mandatory minimum. See Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1) (mandatory minimum); *compare* Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r) with Wis. Stat. \S 948.02(2). Thus, Heidke asserted that the mandatory minimum penalty is constitutionally irrational, in violation of his equal protection rights. (10:2-4).

After further briefing by the parties, on November 25, 2013, the circuit court, the Honorable David L. Borowski presiding, denied the motion in an oral ruling. (68:8; App. 108). The court first noted that the discrepancy pointed out by Heidke was indeed a peculiar one:

The defense points out accurately that [] the mandatory minimum . . . sets up a situation where you could have someone, on one hand, charged with an actual sexual assault of a child, for instance, having contact with the child, where that person might be found guilty and sentenced to probation or sentenced to a two or three-year prison sentence . . . whereas in a case similar to Mr. Heidke's with the mandatory minimum, someone who arranged allegedly or ultimately arranged for a child to possibly have sex with the person over the internet, over the computer, would have a five-year mandatory minimum.

(68:4; App. 104).

The court agreed with Heidke that this dichotomy "is not the most rational." (68:4; App. 104). Nevertheless, the court found that the law was constitutional. In reaching this

conclusion, the court summarized part of the legislative history for Section 939.617. (68:5-8; App. 105-08). The court noted that the statute initially contained presumptive minimums only; however, in 2012, those presumptive minimums were changed to minimum penalties that are mandatory under almost all circumstances.¹ (68:5-6; App. 105-06; *see also* 2011 Wisconsin Act 272). Regarding this change, the court discussed the testimony of one of the bill's sponsors, former Representative Mark Honadel, to the Assembly Committee on Criminal Justice and Corrections:

> [Representative Honadel] discusses the issues with – he used the term somewhere I believe "abusers." He discusses the use of computers, the use of computers in exploiting children. He discusses the fact that since that law has passed that, frankly, courts have made the decision to often times not impose a presumptive minimum sentence, in other times, place defendants on probation and give them less than the presumed minimum sentence, either the three-year presumed minimum or in this case the five-year presumptive minimum.

> He goes on to rationalize and argue and he says, "now we must make sure the law that we pass is enforced. Child victims deserve truth and [sic] sentencing for their

¹ Section 939.617 requires minimum terms of confinement, not only for using a computer to facilitate a child sex crime, but also for sexual exploitation of a child (Wis. Stat. § 948.05) and possession of child pornography (Wis. Stat. § 948.12). Regarding the latter two offenses, the statute contains an exception. Specifically, the court may impose probation or a sentence that is less than the mandatory minimum if the defendant is no more than forty-eight months older than child and the court finds that the best interest of the community will be served and the public will not be harmed. Wis. Stat. § 939.617(2). This exception does not apply to the offense of using a computer to facilitate a child sex crime. *See id.*

abusers. Sending these convicts to prison for the intended length of sentence is the least we can do to keep children safe and relieve the anxiety of parents. We should send a clear message to pedophiles that this type of activity will not be tolerated in Wisconsin and if you do so you will go to prison."

(68:6-7; App. 106-07).

Based on this legislative history, the court found that the "the legislature certainly did ultimately have a reason for their actions." (68:7; App. 107). The court concluded as follows:

> [The legislature], frankly, believe[s] that people who use computers to facilitate child sex crimes should and must serve mandatory minimums. They decided to take that discretion away from courts relative to making it mandatory as opposed to presumptive. As I said earlier, the statues are all presumed constitutional. The defense has a very, very high burden to overcome in any of these challenges.

> I certainly, and it's obvious that both sides very seriously considered the defense position and the somewhat exceptional request to strike down that statute as unconstitutional, but, ultimately, I do not believe under the law, under the case law in Wisconsin that the defense has met their burden.

> So I'm denying the motion to dismiss the mandatory minimum penalty enhancer as unconstitutional.

(68:7-8; App. 107-08).

On December 20, 2013, the circuit court entered a written order denying Heidke's motion to strike the mandatory minimum as unconstitutional for the reasons explained in its oral ruling. (29; App. 112).

Thereafter, on June 11, 2014, Heidke pled guilty as charged to using a computer to facilitate a second-degree sexual assault of a child. (72:5). On September 12, 2014, the court conducted a sentencing hearing. (73). Both sides recommended the mandatory minimum term of confinement of five years. (73:12-13, 17). After hearing the parties' recommendations, the court made its remarks and then imposed a sentence of five years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (73:34).

By way of explanation, the court stated that it took "great umbrage" at having its discretion taken away in this case. (73:28). It commented again on what it described as the "inappropriate . . . and bizarre dichotomy that the legislature has set up," explaining:

you can actually assault a child as an adult and the court can give someone probation or a court can give someone a two-year prison sentence or probation with condition time, but in an attempted, which is basically what this is, computer crime attempt to possibly than engage in further assaultive behavior of a child requires a mandatory minimum. That in my view does not make sense.

(73:27).

The court asked if "absent this mandatory minimum, is it likely that I would be considering something less than five years," and it answered "Yes." (73:28-29). The court noted that Heidke was fifty-seven years old and was on the "low end" of all the following scales: "risk to the community, danger to the community, [and] likelihood to commit a further offense in the future." (73:24, 29). It also noted that he had been consistently employed prior to this incident, had no prior criminal record, and had cooperated while on pretrial release. (73:29). Nevertheless, the court reiterated that it had no discretion in this area:

In this case the legislature has taken away my discretion, and I have no choice but to impose a mandatory minimum of five years of initial confinement for Mr. Heidke.

I do not think he needs five years of extended supervision. Fortunately, the legislature has deigned to allow me discretion in that area. I think two years of extended supervision is appropriate, and the court is sentencing Mr. Heidke to five years of initial confinement, two years of extended supervision for a total sentence of 7 years in the Wisconsin State Prison system.

(73:34).

Thereafter, Heidke filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, undersigned counsel was appointed, and this appeal follows. (54).

ARGUMENT

I. The Five-Year Mandatory Minimum for Using a Computer to Facilitate a Second-Degree Sexual Assault of a Child Violates Equal Protection, Both on Its Face and as Applied.

In this case, Heidke challenges the five-year mandatory minimum for violating Section 948.075, both facially and as applied to him. *See* Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1).²

² Section 939.617(1) states in relevant part: "if a person is convicted of s. . . . 948.075 , . . . , the court shall impose a bifurcated sentence under s. 973.01. The term of confinement in prison portion of the bifurcated sentence shall be at least 5 years"

Section 948.075 provides in relevant part as follows:

(1r) Whoever uses a computer communication system to communicate with an individual who the actor believes or has reason to believe has not attained the age of 16 years with intent to have sexual contact or sexual intercourse with the individual in violation of s. 948.02(1) or (2) is guilty of a Class C felony.

. . . .

(3) Proof that the actor did an act, other than use a computer communication system to communicate with the individual, to effect the actor's intent under sub. (1r) shall be necessary to prove that intent.

In essence, Section 948.075 criminalizes using a computer to attempt to commit a first-degree child sexual assault (Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)) or second-degree child sexual assault (Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)).

Although mandatory minimum penalties exist for most forms of first-degree child sexual assault,³ there is no mandatory minimum for second-degree child sexual assault. Section 939.617 thus creates a penalty scheme in which a person who uses a computer to attempt a second-degree child sexual assault is subject to a five-year mandatory minimum, but a person who actually completes a second-degree child sexual assault is not subject to any minimum penalty.

Heidke argues that this dichotomy violates equal protection, both on its face and as applied in this case. With

³ Section 939.616 provides for mandatory minimum sentences for all forms of first-degree child sexual assault, except having sexual contact with a person who has not attained the age of thirteen (Wis. Stat. \S 948.02(1)(e)).

respect to his facial challenge, he asserts that the mandatory minimum for the portion of Section 948.075 that prohibits using a computer to facilitate a second-degree child sexual assault – when contrasted with the lack of any mandatory minimum for actually completing a second-degree child sexual assault – is irrational under all circumstances. No reasonable person and no reasonable parent in particular, would ever claim that using a computer to attempt a child sexual assault is worse than actually sexually assaulting a child. As the circuit court stated in this case, "I think everyone would conceive it's worse to actually molest a child then to attempt to pick up a child on the internet." (61:9).

For the same reasons, the mandatory minimum for Section 948.075 is constitutionally irrational as applied to the facts of this case. Here, Heidke was charged with and convicted of using a computer to facilitate only a seconddegree (not first-degree) child sexual assault. Moreover, the purported fifteen-year-old child did not actually exist. Under these circumstances, it is irrational to require a five-year mandatory minimum when no mandatory minimum is required for the more aggravated offense of completing a second-degree sexual assault of an actual child.

A. General legal principles and standard of review.

The right to equal protection under the law is guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 1 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Equal protection of the law means that all individuals similarly situated should be treated alike. *United States v. Nagel*, 559 F.3d 756 (7th Cir. 2009) (finding that defendants who violate the computer solicitation law are not similarly situated for sentencing purposes with defendants who commit a controlled substance offense). The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law that this court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 10, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328. Statutes are presumed to be constitutional, and a party challenging a statute must demonstrate that it is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Baron*, 2009 WI 58, ¶ 10, 318 Wis. 2d 60, 769 N.W.2d 34. That presumption and burden apply to facial, as well as to as-applied, constitutional challenges. *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 15, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63.

When a statute is challenged on equal protection grounds, the question is whether a rational basis exists for the classification, unless the statute impinges on a fundamental right or disadvantages a suspect class.⁴ Under this "rational basis" test, equal protection is violated if there is no plausible policy reason for the classification or the classification is arbitrary in relation to the legislative goal. *State v. Lynch*, 2006 WI App 231, ¶¶ 12-13, 297 Wis. 2d 51, 724 N.W.2d 656. When a statutory scheme creates an arbitrary or irrational penalty structure, it denies citizens their right to equal protection under the law and should be struck down. *See Asfoor*, 75 Wis. 2d at 440-41.

B. The mandatory minimum for using a computer to facilitate a second-degree child sexual assault is irrational on its face.

Heidke first challenges the constitutionality of the mandatory minimum on its face. Under a facial challenge, the challenger must show that the law cannot be enforced under any circumstances. *Olson v. Town of Cottage Grove*,

⁴ Heidke does not assert that the mandatory minimum penalty at issue in this case violates a fundamental right or disadvantages a suspect class.

2008 WI 51, ¶ 44, n.9, 309 Wis. 2d 365, 749 N.W.2d 211. If a challenger succeeds in a facial attack on a law, the law is void "from its beginning to the end." *State ex rel. Comm'rs of Pub. Lands v. Anderson*, 56 Wis. 2d 666, 672, 203 N.W.2d 84 (1973).

In this regard, Heidke asserts that the five-year mandatory minimum for the portion of Section 948.075 that criminalizes using a computer to facilitate a second-degree sexual assault of a child violates equal protection. The minimum penalty for this provision,⁵ when contrasted with the lack of any mandatory minimum for actually completing a second-degree sexual assault of a child, is irrational under all circumstances. *Asfoor* compels that irrational penalty structure such as this be struck down as unconstitutional.

In *Asfoor*, the defendant was convicted of *injury* by negligent use of a weapon, which was a felony at the time pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 940.24(1) (1973-74). 75 Wis. 2d at 420, 440. On appeal, he argued that because *homicide* by negligent use of a weapon under Wis. Stat. § 940.08(1) was a misdemeanor, his conviction violated equal protection. *Id.* at 437. The Wisconsin Supreme Court agreed that this penalty scheme created an equal protection violation, noting that it was "unable to conceive of any reason to support the statutory discrimination of the legislature," wherein a negligent act resulting in death carries a lesser penalty than a negligent act resulting only in bodily injury. *Id.* at 440. The court thus held that the penalty provision of Section 940.24(1), when

 $^{^{5}}$ The provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes are severable. If any provision of the statutes is invalid, or if the application of any provision to any person or circumstance is invalid, such invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications that can be given effect without the invalid provision or application. Wis. Stat. § 990.001(11).

contrasted with the penalty provision of Section 940.08(1), was unconstitutional. *Id.* at 441.

Like the penalty scheme in *Asfoor*, the penalty scheme at issue here is also irrational. To prove a violation of Section 948.075, the State must prove the following four elements:

- (1) The defendant used a computerized communication system to communicate with an individual.
- (2) The defendant believed or had reason to believe that the individual was under the age of sixteen years.
- (3) The defendant used a computerized communication system with the intent to have sexual contact or sexual intercourse with the individual, in violation of Section 948.02(1) or (2).
- (4) The defendant did an act, in addition to using a computerized communication system, to carry out the intent to have sexual contact or sexual intercourse.

Section 948.075 thus criminalizes using a computer to attempt to commit an act of first-degree or second-degree child sexual assault. The State concurs with this interpretation, noting in its response brief filed with the circuit court that:

the crux of this offense is not in actually commission [sic] of the crime of sexual assault, but in using a means, the computer, *in an attempt to commit a child sex crime*.

(15:4) (emphasis added).

Like using a computer to attempt a second-degree child sexual assault, the completed crime of second-degree child sexual assault is a Class C felony, punishable by up to forty years' imprisonment (twenty-five years of initial confinement and fifteen year of extended supervision). Wis. Stat. §§ 948.02(2), 948.075(1r), 939.50(3)(c), 973.01(2)(b)3, (d)2. However, unlike a violation of Section 948.075, which carries a five-year mandatory minimum, second-degree sexual assault of a child carries no mandatory minimum penalty. Neither Section 939.617, nor any other statute, requires a minimum prison sentence for second-degree sexual assault of a child.

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