RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-30-2015**

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP1420-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JAMES D. HEIDKE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, DAVID L. BOROWSKI, JUDGE

BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (Phone) (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

ARGUMENT

The statutory provision imposing a mandatory minimum sentence when a defendant is convicted of using a computer to attempt to have sex with a child does not deny equal protection, even though a person who is convicted of actually having sex with a child is not statutorily subject to a minimum penalty, because there is a rational basis for the classification.

The Wisconsin statutes presently provide that a person who has sexual contact or intercourse with a child under the age of sixteen is guilty of a Class C felony, punishable by up to forty years in prison, including twenty-five years of confinement. Wis. Stats. §§ 939.50(3)(c), 948.02(2), 973.01(2)(b)3. (2013-14).

A person who uses a computerized communication system to communicate with a person he believes or has reason to believe is under the age of sixteen with intent to have sexual contact or intercourse with that person is also guilty of a Class C felony, punishable by up to forty years in prison, including twenty-five years of confinement. Wis. Stats. §§ 939.50(3)(c), 948.075(1r), 973.01(2)(b)3. (2013-14).

However, an adult who is convicted of using a computer to attempt to have sex with a child is subject to a mandatory minimum penalty. A person eighteen or over who is convicted of violating § 948.075 must be sentenced to at least five years of confinement. Wis. Stat. § 939.617(1), (3) (2013-14). There is no minimum penalty when a person is convicted of having sex with a child in violation of § 948.02(2).

The defendant-appellant, James D. Heidke, who was convicted of violating § 948.075, argues that he was denied equal protection because he had to be sentenced to at least five years of confinement for using a computer to attempt to have sex with a child while a person who actually sexually assaulted a child could be sentenced to something less.

In assessing whether a statute denies equal protection the ordinary rational basis test applies unless the statute interferes with a fundamental right or disadvantages a protected class. *State v. Smith,* 2010 WI 16, ¶ 12, 323 Wis. 2d 377, 780 N.W.2d 90; *State v. Jorgensen,* 2003 WI 105, ¶ 31, 264 Wis. 2d 157, 667 N.W.2d 318.

There is no fundamental right not to be incarcerated for criminal behavior. *State v. Annala*, 168 Wis. 2d 453, 468, 484 N.W.2d 138 (1992). And felons are not a constitutionally protected class. *State v. Thomas*, 2004 WI App 115, ¶ 26, 274 Wis. 2d 513, 683 N.W.2d 497. So differences in the treatment of criminal offenders, including differences in criminal penalties, are measured under the rational basis test. *State v. Lynch*, 2006 WI App 231, ¶ 14, 297 Wis. 2d 51, 724 N.W.2d 656; *Hilber v. State*, 89 Wis. 2d 49, 54, 277 N.W.2d 839 (1979).

Therefore, the rational basis test applies when a statute that imposes a mandatory minimum sentence is said to violate equal protection. *United States v. Brucker*, 646 F.3d 1012, 1017 (7th Cir. 2011); *United States v. Nagel*, 559 F.3d 756, 760 (7th Cir. 2009).

When faced with a claim that a statute that reflects the considered will of the people is unconstitutional, a court cannot become mired with the merits of the legislation, but must afford due deference to the determination of the legislature. *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 18, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328.

Respect for a co-equal branch of government demands that statutes must be presumed to be constitutional, and will not be found to be unconstitutional unless their invalidity is established beyond a reasonable doubt. *Dane County DHS v. Ponn P.*, 2005 WI 32, ¶¶ 16-18, 279 Wis. 2d 169, 694 N.W.2d 344; *Cole*, 264 Wis. 2d 520, ¶¶ 11, 17 (and cases cited).¹ A court must indulge every presumption and resolve every doubt in favor of sustaining the law. *Ponn P.*, 279 Wis. 2d 169, ¶ 17; *Cole*, 264 Wis. 2d 520, ¶ 11.

The rational basis test is a paradigm of such deferential judicial restraint. *Smith*, 323 Wis. 2d 377, ¶¶ 17-18.

The rational basis standard does not preclude the state from treating even similarly situated persons differently. *State v. Smet,* 2005 WI App 263, ¶ 26, 288 Wis. 2d 525, 709 N.W.2d 474; *State v. McManus,* 152 Wis. 2d 113, 131, 447 N.W.2d 654 (1989). The state retains broad discretion to create classifications, which need not be the best or wisest means of achieving a proper purpose or be free of any inequity. *Smith,* 323 Wis. 2d 377, ¶ 15; *Lynch,* 297 Wis. 2d 51, ¶ 17; *Smet,* 288 Wis. 2d 525, ¶ 26; *McManus,* 152 Wis. 2d at 131.

A classification will be upheld if there is any rational basis for it. *Jorgensen*, 264 Wis. 2d 157, ¶ 32; *State v. Burgess*, 2003 WI 71, ¶ 10, 262 Wis. 2d 354, 665 N.W.2d 124; *State v.*

¹ Since the constitutionality of a statute presents a question of law, the need to demonstrate unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt does not set an evidentiary standard of proof, but expresses the degree of certainty a court must have before invalidating a law. *Ponn P.*, 279 Wis. 2d 169, ¶¶ 14, 18.

Roling, 191 Wis. 2d 754, 764, 530 N.W.2d 434 (Ct. App. 1995). It is sufficient if the classification is reasonable and practical in relation to a legitimate government interest. *State v. Hezzie R.*, 219 Wis. 2d 848, 894, 580 N.W.2d 660 (1998); *McManus*, 152 Wis. 2d at 131.

A classification may be invalidated only if it is patently arbitrary, and without any rational relationship to a legitimate government interest. *Smith*, 323 Wis. 2d 377, ¶ 12; *Smet*, 288 Wis. 2d 525, ¶ 26; *Hezzie R.*, 219 Wis. 2d at 894; *McManus*, 152 Wis. 2d at 131. Any doubts must be resolved in favor of the reasonableness of the classification. *Hezzie R.*, 219 Wis. 2d at 894; *McManus*, 152 Wis. 2d at 131.

The legislature need not expressly state the purpose or rationale justifying the classification. *Smet*, 288 Wis. 2d 525, \P 21; *State v. Radke*, 2003 WI 7, \P 11, 259 Wis. 2d 13, 657 N.W.2d 66. Rather, a court must presume that there is a justification for the classification, *Smith*, 323 Wis. 2d 377, \P 15, and must find or devise, if possible, some reasonable basis for it. *Lynch*, 297 Wis. 2d 51, \P 17; *Radke*, 259 Wis. 2d 13, $\P\P$ 11, 27; *Hezzie R.*, 219 Wis. 2d at 894-95.

The party challenging the statute has the burden of eliminating any reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a rational basis for the classification. *Nagel*, 559 F.3d at 760. *See State v. Pocian*, 2012 WI App 58, ¶ 6, 341 Wis. 2d 380, 814 N.W.2d 894 (a facial challenge requires the challenger to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute is unconstitutional in all its applications, and that there is no situation where the law would be constitutional); *Smith*, 323 Wis. 2d 377, ¶ 10 n.9 (same).

The mere fact that the legislature enacts a mandatory minimum penalty for one offense but not for another similar offense does not make the mandatory minimum irrational. *United States v. Caparotta,* 890 F. Supp. 2d 200, 214 (E.D. N.Y. 2012). There may be good reasons why a mandatory minimum sentence is appropriate for only one of the offenses.

In this case, the reason for mandating a minimum penalty for a violation of § 948.075(1r), while no minimum was imposed for a violation of § 948.02(2), was not that the legislature considered using a computer to attempt to have sex with a child to be a more serious offense than actually having sex with a child.

Prior to the creation of § 948.075, the conduct now proscribed by that statute could only be prosecuted as an attempted second-degree sexual assault of a child, *State v*. *Grimm*, 2002 WI App 242, ¶¶ 7-14, 258 Wis. 2d 166, 653 N.W.2d 284, punishable by one-half the maximum for a Class C felony, i.e., twenty years. Wis. Stat. § 939.32(1g)(b)1. (2013-14).

By creating § 948.075 and making the grade of, and maximum penalty for, this offense exactly the same as for § 948.02(2), the legislature indicated that it viewed both crimes as equally serious. *See State v. Davison*, 2003 WI 89, ¶ 48, 263 Wis. 2d 145, 666 N.W.2d 1.

Rather, the legislature mandated a minimum penalty for violations of § 948.075(1r), but not for violations of § 948.02(2), because it perceived that the courts were not viewing both crimes as equally serious, and were regularly imposing sentences for violations of § 948.075(1r) that were too lenient. The mandatory minimum was the legislature's way of forcing courts to impose sentences for violations of § 948.075(1r) that reflected the legislature's view of the seriousness of that offense.

The legislature was aware that in 2005 only four defendants who were convicted of violating § 948.075(1r) were

sentenced to incarceration, and then for an average of only thirty-three months (74:ex.2:3). Thirty-three defendants who were convicted of this felony were given probation (74:ex.2:3).

The legislature's first response to this problem was a measured effort to cajole courts into imposing more substantial sentences on defendants who violated § 948.075(1r). The legislature created a presumptive minimum sentence of five years, but allowed courts to impose a lesser sentence if they found that the interests of the community would be served and the public would not be harmed. 2005 Wisconsin Act 433, § 15 (creating Wis. Stat. § 939.617).

But a study conducted by investigators for a Milwaukee television station found that in 2009 judges were still "giving internet predators a slap on the wrist" (74:ex.1:1).

This study prompted Representative Mark R. Honadel to introduce 2011 Assembly Bill 209 for the purpose of "clos[ing] a gaping loophole in state law that allows convicted child predators, child pornographers, and those who prey on children online to serve less than their full sentence" (40:13-14).

Representative Honadel stated that the presumptive minimum had not worked well because the exception that allowed courts to impose a lesser sentence had become the rule, so that many defendants who committed internet crimes against children were not getting the prison sentences they deserved (40:13). Representative Honadel believed that the law was not being enforced as intended because some of these defendants were never being sent to prison (40:14).

Representative Honadel urged his colleagues in the legislature to now "make sure the law that we passed is enforced" (40:14). He said there was "absolutely no reason for leniency for those who abuse and take advantage of our

children" (40:14). So he proposed "eliminat[ing] the option of a lesser sentence and impos[ing] mandatory minimum sentencing for anyone ... over the age of 18 who uses a computer to prey on children" (40:14).

The statements of those who propose legislation are authoritative evidence of the purpose of the statute. *State v. Champion*, 2002 WI App 267, ¶ 11, 258 Wis. 2d 781, 654 N.W.2d 242, *modified on other grounds, State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶¶ 47 n.11, 52, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 838; *State v. Stevenson*, 2000 WI 71, ¶ 25 n.5, 236 Wis. 2d 86, 613 N.W.2d 90.

Representative Honadel's colleagues overwhelmingly agreed with him by enacting 2011 Wisconsin Act 272, which amended § 939.617 by eliminating the courts' discretion to impose anything less than a sentence of five years of confinement for violating § 948.075(1r), although they retain discretion to impose up to twenty years more. Wis. Stats. §§ 939.50(3)(c), 948.075(1r), 973.01(2)(b)3.

The legislature has broad authority to enact laws reflecting society's appreciation of the seriousness of one crime as opposed to another, and to measure the sanctions that, in the judgment of society, will best deter the commission of those crimes. *Radke*, 259 Wis. 2d 13, \P 29.

In the exercise of this authority, the legislature may "decide whether and to what extent the sentencing court's discretion should be limited." *In re Felony Sentencing Guidelines*, 120 Wis. 2d 198, 203, 353 N.W.2d 793 (1984). *Accord Chapman v. United States*, 500 U.S. 453, 467 (1991) (Congress has the power to define criminal punishments without giving the courts any sentencing discretion). *See Brucker*, 646 F.3d at 1019 (rejecting a separation of powers challenge to mandatory minimum sentences).

So a perceived need to prevent judicial lenience in imposing sentences for a crime the legislature deems serious provides a proper reason for requiring a mandatory minimum sentence. *Brucker*, 646 F.3d at 1017-18; *Nagel*, 559 F.3d at 761.

Indeed, the federal government has done essentially the same thing by imposing a mandatory minimum sentence of ten years for the crime of attempted sexual enticement of a minor, which can be committed, like in this case, by using a computer to attempt to have sex with a detective posing as a child, to prevent courts from being too lenient in sentencing for a crime Congress considered serious even though there was no actual child victim. *Nagel*, 559 F.3d at 758, 760-61, 764. *See also Caparotta*, 890 F. Supp. 2d 200 (upholding a five year mandatory minimum sentence for receiving child pornography).

Obversely, the legislature could have reasonably determined that there was no corresponding need to impose a mandatory minimum penalty for violating § 948.02 by actually having sex with a child.

It is possible to conceive a reasonable basis for the classification, *Lynch*, 297 Wis. 2d 51, ¶ 17; *Radke*, 259 Wis. 2d 13, ¶ 11; *Hezzie R.*, 219 Wis. 2d at 894-95, by attributing to the legislature a determination that there was no reason to force courts to treat violations of § 948.02 seriously because courts were already treating those violations seriously by imposing significant prison sentences for actually sexually assaulting a child.

A sampling of recent cases shows that the legislature could have come to that conclusion.²

 $^{^2}$ To obtain this sample the attorney general first turned to Westlaw to find cases where the defendant had been convicted of violating § 948.02 between the date § 948.075 was enacted and the date the minimum

Since a minimum sentence affects only the confinement portion of a bifurcated sentence, Wis. Stat. § 939.617, this list shows only the period of confinement rather than the total sentence including the period of extended supervision.

In Milwaukee County Case No. 2002CF3318 Raymond A. Rosa was sentenced to seven years of confinement for violating § 948.02(2).

In Milwaukee County Case No. 2001CF6756 Tyrone Booker was sentenced to nine years of confinement for violating § 948.02(2). Additional penalties were imposed for convictions of other crimes.

In Milwaukee County Case No. 2003CF2718 Randy McGowan was sentenced to twenty years of confinement for violating § 948.02(1).

In Kenosha County Case No. 2002CF388 Machon L. Williams was sentenced to five years of confinement for violating § 948.02(2). Additional penalties were imposed for convictions of other crimes.

In Washington County Case No. 2005CF10 Brian J. Homz was sentenced to twenty years of confinement for violating \S 948.02(1).

In Richland County Case No. 2005CF49 Alan Keith Burns was sentenced to twenty-five years of confinement for violating § 948.02(2).

sentence was made mandatory. CCAP was consulted to determine the sentences imposed on these defendants.

In Milwaukee County Case No. 2006CF6287 Tyrone Davis Smith was sentenced to ten years of confinement for violating § 948.02(1).

In Fond du Lac County Case No. 2007CF446 John A. LaGrew was sentenced for forty years of confinement for violating § 948.02(1). Additional penalties were imposed for convictions of other crimes.

In Waukesha County Case No. 2008CF120 Scott E. Ziegler was sentenced to thirty-five years of confinement for violating § 948.02(2). Additional penalties were imposed for convictions of other crimes.

In Milwaukee County Case No. 2007CF2341 Lenin Correa was sentenced to ten years of confinement for violating § 948.02(1).

In Milwaukee County Case No. 2011CF2293 Ondrea Ray Matthews was sentenced to sixteen years of confinement for violating § 948.02(2).

Although probation was imposed in a couple cases, a statutory scheme does not violate equal protection simply because it is not all-encompassing. *State v. Hanson*, 182 Wis. 2d 481, 488, 513 N.W.2d 700 (Ct. App. 1994). The legislature may recognize different degrees of harm and decide which more urgently needs repression. *State v. Block*, 222 Wis. 2d 586, 592, 587 N.W.2d 914 (Ct. App. 1998). "If the law addresses the evil where it is most felt, it should not be overthrown because it may have been applied in other instances." *Hanson*, 182 Wis. 2d at 488.

This sampling of cases cannot prove that the legislature decided to impose a mandatory minimum penalty for violating § 948.075, but not for violating § 948.02, because it saw a need

to prevent judicial lenience in the one case but not the other. But it shows that the legislature could have had that purpose in mind, and that is all that is necessary to justify the classification made by the legislature.

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